IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

JAMES A. NOLLET,
     *

VERIFIED COMPLAINT


Plaintiff

     *

v.



     *

CIVIL ACTION No.

JOHN S. DUSHAME,     *

CV99-12276-EFH


Defendant

     *




* * * * * * * * * * * * * *

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
COMPLAINT

PLAINTIFF JAMES A. NOLLET, pro se, brings this action to obtain redress for the deprivation, under color of statute, of his federally protected Civil Rights, as guaranteed to him by the 1st, 4th, 5th, & 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution and by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and as well by the laws and statutes of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  Plaintiff alleges that the Defendant intentionally inflicted physical and emotional distress, in that he was subjected to false arrest and false imprisonment by the defendant. 

JURISDICTION

1)  Plaintiff claims Federal jurisdiction pursuant to Article III § 2, which extends the jurisdiction to cases arising under the U.S. Constitution, this being an Action authorized by law to redress the deprivation, under color of state law, statute, custom, and usage of a right, privilege, and immunity secured to the Plaintiff at all times by the 1st, 4th, 5th & 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution.  Plaintiff brings this suit pursuant to Title 42 U.S. Code § 1983 for violations of certain protections guaranteed to him by the First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the Constitution of the United States, by the Defendant under color of Law, in his capacity as a police officer of the City of Lawrence, Massachusetts.  Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S. Code § 1331 and 1343.  Pendant Jurisdiction is also claimed for violations of Plaintiff’s rights under Articles I, XII, and XIV of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights, as well as Massachusetts General Law (MGL) 12 § 11I.

VENUE

2)  Venue in the District of Massachusetts is proper under 28 U.S. Code § 1391(b).  During all times mentioned in this Complaint, Plaintiff was and is a citizen of the United States who resides within the District of Massachusetts.  At all times mentioned herein, the Defendant was employed within the District of Massachusetts as a police officer for the City of Lawrence, Massachusetts and, of knowledge and belief, also resides there.  Each of the claims for relief arose from actions entirely committed within the District of Massachusetts.

THE PARTIES

4)  JAMES A. NOLLET (hereafter “Nollet” or “(the) Plaintiff”) is the PLAINTIFF.  He is a citizen of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  His address currently is 40 Franklin Street, in Woburn, Massachusetts 01801. 

5)  JOHN S. DUSHAME (hereafter “Dushame” or “(the) Defendant”) is the DEFENDANT.  His employer, currently as well as at the time of the events which give rise to this complaint, is the Police Department of the City of Lawrence, Massachusetts.  Dushame is employed there as a police officer.  The address of the Police Department of Lawrence, Massachusetts is: 90 Lowell Street, Lawrence, Massachusetts 01840. 

OTHER IMPORTANT PERSONALITIES

6)  HALINA WIOLETTA NOLLET is the Plaintiff’s first wife, and is the complainant whose accusation led to Plaintiff’s false arrest and deprivation of his rights.

7)  HALINA ADELA NOLLET is the Plaintiff’s second and present wife.

8)  Because of the similarities of the names of these two women, and to avoid confusion, Plaintiff’s first wife will hereafter be referred to as “Wioletta;” and the Plaintiff’s second and present wife will be referred to as “Adela.”  

FACTS

9)  The facts of this complaint originate in a domestic relations dispute between Plaintiff and his first wife Wioletta. 

10)  At the time of the incident complained of herein, Wioletta invented an accusation of Domestic Violence against Plaintiff due to her own apparently illegal entry into the United States and due to the Plaintiff’s vigorous defense of the series of domestic relations Restraining Orders which she had brought against him under color of Massachusetts General Law (“MGL”) 209A.  The fourth and last of a series of such Orders were in effect against the Plaintiff at the time of his unlawful arrest by the Defendant.

11)  Wioletta’s willful campaign to abuse the Plaintiff under the color of Law escalated sometime in the middle of January 1997, when she received Plaintiff’s Summons to come to Woburn (Massachusetts) District Court on or about February 11, 1997, there to attend a Clerk-Magistrate’s Hearing, at which she was to answer Plaintiff’s accusation that she had committed literally dozens of provable Perjuries during the course of her campaign of abuse against him.

12)  The Perjuries which the Plaintiff alleged against Wioletta arose from numerous occasions when they had appeared in Court together between 1993 - 1996, when Wioletta provably had committed said Perjuries in her campaign to misuse the force of law to bring down the Plaintiff.

13)  Wioletta had good reason to fear the outcome of such a Hearing, because she of all people knew all too well that the Plaintiff could thoroughly prove that she had committed these crimes of Perjury and False Accusation against him over the years. 

14)  Accordingly, a few days after she received the above-mentioned Summons, on or about January 30, 1997, Wioletta did have a meeting with the Defendant in which Wioletta did present to the Defendant a letter which Wioletta did purport to have been sent to her and written by Plaintiff’s current wife Adela.  The letter was written in Polish and, according to what Wioletta told the Defendant, beseeched Wioletta to call Adela to explore ways to end the animosity between Wioletta and the Plaintiff. 

15)  The letter was a totally lawful and constitutionally-protected activity in that there existed no Restraining Order of any sort which restricted any contact between these parties.

16)  The fact that Wioletta held a Restraining Order on Plaintiff Nollet is of no relevance, because Wioletta claimed that Adela, and not Nollet, had written the letter, and because Wioletta never even claimed that Nollet had induced Adela to write the letter. 

17)  On the basis of this letter, Defendant issued a false and malicious warrant against Plaintiff for his arrest for violation of his domestic relations Restraining Order.

18)  The Defendant knew that the Plaintiff had never written the letter; and neither he nor Wioletta ever even alleged that Plaintiff had induced Adela in any way to write the letter. 

19)  On February 11, 1999, Plaintiff was arrested inside the lobby at Woburn District Court, immediately prior to the scheduled Clerk-Magistrate’s Hearing (Paragraph 11 above).

20)  Instead of the Plaintiff’s being allowed to testify at this Hearing, which was his right, Wioletta did sabotage said Hearing and did prevent its occurrence, prior to the commencement of the Hearing when, upon her arrival inside the lobby, she informed a uniformed Woburn Police Officer on duty inside the courthouse that there existed an open warrant for Plaintiff’s arrest.  The Woburn police officer did confirm that there existed a facially-valid warrant for the Plaintiff’s arrest, and did thereupon summarily place him under arrest.  Plaintiff was handcuffed, escorted to the basement holding area of Woburn District Court, and several hours later was transported via Sheriff’s van to the Essex County Jail in Middleton, Massachusetts. 

21)  At all times, the Plaintiff suffered extreme emotional anguish, particularly when, later that night, he was placed under observation in a cell adjacent to the cell in which was housed “an emotionally-challenged person,” who screamed and yelled the entire night in a particularly fulsome and pornographic fashion.  Plaintiff was at all times under observation of female corrections officers, who were able to observe his private bodily functions.  Plaintiff did lie on a bare floor the entire night with nothing but a single blanket with which to cover himself.

22)  The following morning, Plaintiff was again handcuffed and leg-shackled, and brought to Lawrence District Court where, late in the afternoon, he was released on a Writ of Personal Recognizance by Judge Sanders.

23)  During the pendancy of the criminal case, Plaintiff did continue to suffer extreme emotional anguish, embarrassment, and humiliation.

24)  Also, the stress brought upon by this arrest adversely impacted Plaintiff’s job productivity and caused his reputation at his workplace to suffer.

25)  Ultimately, on November 25, 1997, the Plaintiff, representing himself pro-se, did argue on Motion that the case against himself ought to be Dismissed because the Commonwealth had Failed to State a Cause of Action against him in that 1) the letter in question was not written by him and in any event was constitutionally-protected; and 2) because the Defendant’s own Incident Report (Exhibit 1) did not indicate even a single specific claim of any specific wrong-doing by the Plaintiff.

26)  In effect, the Defendant wrote a warrant for the Plaintiff’s arrest, not because there existed any Probable Cause or even a single specific allegation of wrong-doing, but rather simply and entirely because Wioletta asked him to, as a kind of personal favor to her outside the official scope of his jurisdiction, because she both nursed a grudge and held a domestic relations Restraining Order against the Plaintiff.

27)  Judge Flatley agreed with Plaintiff’s Motion, and Dismissed the criminal accusation against Plaintiff on November 25, 1997.

28)  The Defendant always knew or should have known that there existed not even a scintilla of Probable Cause to justify this arrest, since even Wioletta never claimed that the Plaintiff had violated the law in any fashion.

29)  The Defendant acted recklessly and maliciously, without authorization of law, and acted knowingly and purposefully with the specific intent to deprive the Plaintiff of his right to freedom from illegal seizure of his person, freedom from unlawful arrest, and freedom from illegal detention and imprisonment.  All these rights are secured to the Plaintiff by the provisions of the Due Process clause of the 5th and 14th Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and by 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

30)  In writing the warrant which led to the Plaintiff’s arrest, the Defendant knew or should have known that he was violating Plaintiff’s constitutional rights as set forth in Paragraph 28 above.

31)  The wrongful acts of the Defendant complained of herein were undertaken maliciously and include, without limitation, the following:

a)  Intentionally causing the arrest of the Plaintiff when the Defendant knew or should have known that there was no grounds or Probable Cause for his arrest;

b)  The intent of the Defendant from the beginning of his investigation to charge the Plaintiff with a crime;

c)  Preparation of a groundless warrant which caused the Plaintiff’s arrest; and

d)  The procurement of a groundless accusation against the Plaintiff based on a complaint which the Defendant knew or should have known lacked any actionable basis.

32)  As a direct and proximate result of the Defendant’s actions, Plaintiff was deprived of his liberty, was forced to incur legal fees and expenses, and suffered great mental anguish and extreme emotional distress, and was greatly humiliated.

ARGUMENT – MGL 209A & PROBABLE CAUSE

33)  Normally, police officers in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts make arrests under a doctrine of Selective Enforcement.

34)  However, MGL 209A removes the option of Selective Enforcement from police officers in Domestic Violence cases and for violations of domestic relations Restraining Orders, in that MGL 209A instructs police officers that they “shall” make arrests in these cases whenever they find that they have Probable Cause to do so.
35)  MGL 209A Section 6 says, “…The officer shall take, but not be limited to the following action:…(7)arrest any person a law officer witnesses or has probable cause to believe has violated a temporary or permanent vacate, restraining, or no-contact order or judgment issued persuant to…section thirty-two of chapter two hundred and nine, section three, three B, three C, four or five of this chapter, or sections fifteen or twenty of chapter two hundred and nine C or similar protection order issued by another jurisdiction.”
36)  MGL 209A Section 6(7) also says, “The safety of the victim and any involved children shall be paramount in any decision to arrest.”
37)  MGL 209A also says, “Law enforcement officers shall use every reasonable means to enforce such abuse prevention orders.”
38)  Assuming that the Plaintiff really had violated the Restraining Order, which was issued solely to protect the alleged victim Wioletta, any reasonable police officer would or should have been forced to conclude that said violation of the Restraining Order could only mean that the alleged victim Wioletta was in genuine physical danger.  Since the Defendant had a “paramount” obligation to see to the safety of the alleged victim from the Plaintiff’s presumed villainous intentions, he could and should have seen to his obligation by having the Plaintiff immediately arrested.
39)  This he could and should have done simply by notifying the Woburn Police Department (hereafter “WPD”) that he had written a warrant for Plaintiff’s arrest, and then by requesting the WPD to arrest the Plaintiff forthwith.
40)  Had the Defendant followed this facially lawful procedure as required by MGL 209A, Plaintiff would not have been arrested later, at Woburn District Court, prior to the Clerk-Magistrate Hearing therein scheduled on or about February 11, 1997.  In this case, the Plaintiff’s 1st Amendment right to offer testimony in a legal proceeding would not have been abused. 

41)  However, the Defendant never asked the WPD or any police agency to arrest the Plaintiff forthwith.  He failed and neglected to follow-through on his own warrant when he chose not to ask the WPD to arrest the Plaintiff forthwith.  When he did this, he not only abused the presumed rights of the alleged victim Wioletta; he also demonstrated his own lack of any genuine belief that any real Probable Cause ever existed to arrest the Plaintiff for any violation of any Restraining Order.
LACK OF QUALIFIED IMMUNITY
42)  When the Defendant made a warrant to arrest Plaintiff without Probable Cause, he thereby forfeited his right to any kind of Qualified Immunity Defense, or “Good Faith” Defense.

COUNT I 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Deprivation of Civil Rights as per 42 U.S. Code § 1983, violation of Plaintiff’s First Amendment Rights)

43) Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 - 42.

44) Defendant violated Plaintiff’s First Amendment Rights in that he issued a warrant which caused an illegal deprivation of the Plaintiff’s 1st Amendment right to offer testimony in a Court of Law. 

COUNT II
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Violation of Civil Rights as per 42 U.S. Code § 1983, violation of Plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment Rights)

45) Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 44.

46)  By issuing a warrant for Plaintiff’s arrest without Probable Cause, Defendant violated Plaintiff’s Civil Right to be free from unlawful seizure of his person, in violation of the Plaintiff’s right under the 4th Amendment to be free from unreasonable search and seizure.  As a direct and proximate result thereof, Plaintiff suffered great losses, injuries, and pain of mind.

COUNT III

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Violation of Civil Rights as per 42 U.S. Code § 1983, violation of Plaintiff’s Fourteenth Amendment Rights

47) Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 46.

48)  Defendant violated Plaintiff’s 14th Amendment Rights when he issued a warrant without Probable Cause for Plaintiff’s arrest, because the Plaintiff at all times enjoyed a right to be free of deprivation of his life, liberty, or property without Due Process of Law.  As a direct and proximate result thereof, Plaintiff suffered great losses, injuries, and pain of mind.

COUNT IV

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Malicious Prosecution)

49) Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 48.

50)  When the Defendant issued a warrant without Probable Cause for the Plaintiff’s arrest, he committed Malicious Prosecution, because maliciousness may be inferred when Probable Cause is lacking.  As a direct and proximate result thereof, Plaintiff suffered great losses, injuries, and pain of mind.

COUNT V

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(False Arrest)

51) Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 50.

52)  When the Defendant’s issued a warrant without Probable Cause that resulted in Plaintiff’s arrest and incarceration for two days, the Defendant committed False Arrest.  As a direct and proximate result thereof, Plaintiff suffered great losses, injuries, and pain of mind.  Also as a result of Defendant’s False Arrest, Plaintiff’s job performance and his reputation at his workplace waned.

  COUNT VI

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(False Imprisonment)

53) Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 52.

54)  When the Defendant issued a warrant without Probable Cause that resulted in Plaintiff’s arrest and incarceration for two days, he committed False Imprisonment.  As a direct and proximate result thereof, Plaintiff suffered great losses, injuries, and pain of mind.

COUNT VII

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Violations of MGL 12 § 11I and of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights, Articles I, XII, & XIV)

55) Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 54.

56)  As referenced above, Defendant’s violation of Plaintiff’s federal rights also constitute violations of Plaintiff’s rights under MGL 12 § 11I and of Articles I, XII, & XIV of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights, because at all times the Defendant had an absolute right to be free from False Arrest, False Imprisonment, and Malicious Prosecution.

COUNT VIII

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress)

57) Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 - 56.

58)  When the Defendant violated Plaintiff’s numerous and sundry rights, he intentionally inflicted emotional distress on the Plaintiff.

59)  The actions of the Defendant was undertaken with deliberate intention to cause Plaintiff to suffer extreme emotional distress.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
60)  As a consequence of the egregious violations of his rights, the Plaintiff suffered great pain of mind and body and other damages.  Wherefore, the Plaintiff prays that the Court award him all Compensatory damages to which he is entitled, and award him costs and suit herein as well as reasonable attorney’s fees.

61)  Plaintiff also prays that the Court award him Punitive damages to which he is entitled.  Plaintiff believes this is urgent because he believes Defendant’s illegal warrant and arrest was not an isolated incident, but rather is something that happens frequently and routinely in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, in that men are always arrested, even without Probable Cause, as soon as police officers understand that it is an accusation of Domestic Violence or Violation of Restraining Order that has been made.  It is Plaintiff’s belief that police officers everywhere must be sent a message that constitutionally sub-standard arrests cannot and will not be tolerated, even if such arrests are performed to attempt to alleviate the serious problem of Domestic Violence.
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
62)  Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury of all issues so triable in this cause of action.







Respectfully Submitted pro-se,







by James A. Nollet







_________________________ 
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June 10, 1999

